

How Does the Presence of Natural Habitat Patches in a Large-Scale Coconut Plantation in Ivory Coast Influence Pest Control?

A study using soundscape analysis and artificial prey

Félicie Marie Martine JAMME

Independent project • 30 credits Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences European Master in Environmental Science (EnvEuro) Uppsala 2024

How Does the Presence of Natural Habitat Patches in a Large-Scale Coconut Plantation in Ivory Coast Influence Pest Control? A study using soundscape analysis and artificial prey

Félicie Marie Martine JAMME

Supervisor:	Michael JONES, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Urban and Rural Development		
Co-supervisor:	Dr. sc. agr. Marc COTTER, Hohenheim University, Tropical Agricultural Sciences Institute and Research Institute of Organic Agriculture FiBL		
Examiner:	Margarita CUADRA, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Urban and Rural Development		
Assistant examiner:	Juliana Dániel-Ferreira, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Urban and Rural Development		

Credits:	30 credits			
Level:	Second cycle, A2E			
Course title:	Master thesis in Environmental Science, A2E			
Course code:	EX0897			
Programme/education:	European Master in Environmental Science (EnvEuro)			
Course coordinating dept:	Department of Aquatic Sciences and Assessment			
Place of publication:	Uppsala			
Year of publication:	2024			
Copyright:	All featured images are used with permission from the copyright owner.			
Online publication:	https://stud.epsilon.slu.se			
Keywords:	Acoustic monitoring, Biodiversity, Dummy caterpillars, Ecosystem services, Predation rate, Soundscape analysis, Tropical agriculture			

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Urban and Rural Development Division of Political Science and Natural Resource Governance

Abstract

This study investigates the impact of natural habitat patches on pest control efficacy within a largescale coconut plantation in Ivory Coast.

Using soundscape analysis and artificial prey methods, the research evaluates how biodiversity within natural habitat patches can influence predation rates. The findings, indicate that the presence of natural habitats may play a role in enhancing pest control services by increasing predator diversity and activity in intensively managed monocultures.

The research was conducted on a 900-hectare coconut plantation. By using AudioMoths to gather soundscape data and placing dummy caterpillars as artificial prey across various distances from the natural habitat patches, the study measured predation rates and acoustic complexity to draw correlations between biodiversity and pest control potential.

Key results indicate that natural habitat patches, comprising of remnant forests, fallow land, and single large trees, may serve as refuge for pest predators and enhance biological control in adjacent coconut crops. Trends observed showed increased predation activity nearer to the natural habitat patches. Soundscape indices were explored as potential indicators of biodiversity. The acoustic complexity index displayed significant results when corelated to predation events.

The findings are particularly relevant for large-scale monocultures in the Global South, where the importance of balancing agricultural productivity with ecological sustainability is increasingly being recognised. Future studies should continue to explore these dynamics with extended monitoring periods to further expand upon these observations.

Keywords: Acoustic monitoring, Biodiversity, Dummy caterpillars, Ecosystem services, Predation rate, Soundscape analysis, Tropical agriculture

Table of contents

List o	of tables	7
List o	of figures	8
Abbr	eviations	.11
1.	Introduction	.12
1.1	Context	.13
1.2	Research gaps	.13
2.	Research Questions and Hypotheses	.14
2.1	Aims	.14
2.2	Hypotheses	.14
3.	Materials and Methods	.15
3.1	Study site	.15
	3.1.1 Planting design and Management of the plantation	.16
3.2	QField	.16
3.3	AudioMoths	.17
3.4	Soundscape analysis	.20
3.5	Dummy caterpillars	.22
3.6	Data analysis	.25
3.7	Literature review	.26
3.8	Critiques and limitations	.26
4.	Results	.27
4.1	Dummy caterpillars	.27
4.2	Distance	.29
	4.2.1 Predation	.29
	4.2.2 Predation rate	.29
4.3	Natural habitat patch size	.30
	4.3.1 Predation	.30
	4.3.2 Predation rate	.30
4.4	Acoustic complexity index	.31
	4.4.1 Predation	.31
	4.4.2 Predation rate	.32
4.5	Temporal entropy	.32

	4.5.1 Predation	32
	4.5.2 Predation rate	33
4.6	Bioacoustic index	.34
	4.6.1 Predation	.34
	4.6.2 Predation rate	34
4.7	Acoustic evenness index	35
	4.7.1 Predation	35
	4.7.2 Predation rate	.36
4.8	Acoustic diversity index	.36
	4.8.1 Predation	.36
	4.8.2 Predation rate	37
4.9	Explanatory variables	38
5.	Discussion	.39
5.1	Interpretations and implications	.39
5.2	Limitations	41
5.3	Future research	.42
5.4	Conclusions	43
Refer	ences	.44
Popu	lar science summary	50
Ackn	owledgements	51

List of tables

Table 1. Coefficient of determination (R²), probability value (p), slope (ß), and standard error of the slope (SEß) of the different interactions of the explanatory variables (D, NHP, ACIMean, ACIsd, HMean, Hsd, BIMean, BIsd, AEIMean, AEIsd, ADIMean, ADIsd) and the Predation (P) and Predation Rate (PRate). Significant results are indicated in bold. Marginally significant results are indicated by an asterisk (*).

List of figures

Figure 1. A	A satellite image of the plantation dating from April 2024, matching the sampling period of the study. In red the theoretical border of the plantation. Within the red border, the vertical and horizontal straight lines are tracks, separating the coconut plots, and the darker, more irregular shapes correspond to the natural habitat patches. In the bottom left-hand corner of the image, a natural forest. All other elements that can be seen are mixed agricultural lands. (Image source: Planet Labs Inc., 2024)
Figure 2. A	An example of a natural habitat patch (NHP) found in the plantation, where an area of remnant forest can be seen in the background, and rows of planted coconut trees in the foreground. (Photo by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024)
Figure 3. T	The AudioMoth device, in an IPX7 Waterproof case open (left) and closed (right). (Image source: AudioMoth Open Acoustic Devices 2023)
Figure 4. A	AudioMoths in the field. From left to right; in the middle of a natural HP fixed on a tree, at the border of a natural HP fixed on a tree, and at a sample point on a transect fixed on a bamboo stick. (Photos by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024)
Figure 5. C	Graphical depiction of the sample design for the placement of the AudioMoths and dummy caterpillars in the subsequent transects from the natural habitat patches. (Illustration by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024)
Figure 6. L	Left, a live caterpillar (Hippotion esson), after which the artificial caterpillars in this study were modelled. Right, a dummy caterpillar upon placement. (Photos by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024)
Figure 7. T i	Fools and materials used to make dummy caterpillars following the standards by Howe et al. (2009) green plasticine modelling clay, a T-handle reamer and insertion tool, a spool of thin, flexible, green wire, and a pair of wire cutters to fix them onto the desired surface. (Photos by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024)23
Figure 8. A	A selection of three DCs in the field, photographed, labelled, and recorded showing signs of predation, circled in red. From left to right, a floor DC with multiple rodent bite marks, a DC on a bamboo stick with large ant mandibular bite marks, a DC on a nearby coconut tree with ant bite marks. (Photos by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024)

Figure 9. An example of a predation event on two different DCs. Circled in red, clear triangular-shaped beak marks, typical of bird predation, can be observed on the DCs. (Photos by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024)
Figure 10. Left, predation events (1 = predation, 0 = no predation) versus distance (m) away from the natural habitat patches correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site) versus distance (m) away from the natural habitat patches correlation scatter plot29
Figure 11. Left, predation events (1 = predation, 0 = no predation) versus natural habitat patch size (m ²) correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site) versus natural habitat patch size (m ²) correlation scatter plot. 30
Figure 12. Left, predation events versus ACIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation events versus ACIsd correlation scatter plot. (1 = predation, 0 = no predation).
Figure 13. Left, predation rate versus ACIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate versus ACIsd correlation scatter plot. (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site)
Figure 14. Left, predation events versus HMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation events versus Hsd correlation scatter plot. (1 = predation, 0 = no predation)32
Figure 15. Left, predation rate versus HMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate versus Hsd correlation scatter plot. (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site)
Figure 16. Left, predation events versus BIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation events versus BIsd correlation scatter plot. (1 = predation, 0 = no predation). 34
Figure 17. Left, predation rate versus BIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate versus BIsd correlation scatter plot. (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site)
Figure 18. Left, predation events versus AEIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation events versus AEIsd correlation scatter plot. (1 = predation, 0 = no predation).
Figure 19. Left, predation rate versus AEIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate versus AEIsd correlation scatter plot. (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site)
Figure 20. Left, predation events versus ADIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation events versus ADIsd correlation scatter plot. (1 = predation, 0 = no predation)

Figure 21. Left, predation rate versus ADIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation
rate versus ADIsd correlation scatter plot. (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs
'attacked' per sampling site)37

Figure 22. The correlation matrix of all the explanatory variables; D, NHP, ACIMean, ACIsd, HMean, Hsd, AEIMean, AEIsd, BIMean, BIsd, ADIMean, and ADIsd..38

Abbreviations

ACI	Acoustic Complexity Index
ADI	Acoustic Diversity Index
AEI	Acoustic Evenness Index
AI	Agricultural Intensification
ARUs	Autonomous Recording Units
ß	Slope
BI	Bioacoustic Index
DCs	Dummy Caterpillars
GLM	Generalised Linear Model
Н	Temporal Entropy
HP	Habitat Patch
IC	Ivory Coast
GIS	Geographical Information System
GPS	Global Positioning System
NDSI	Normalised Difference Soundscape Index
NH	Natural Habitat
NHP	Natural Habitat Patch
NHPs	Natural Habitat Patches
Р	Predation
PMCI	Plantations Modernes de Côte d'Ivoire
PRate	Predation Rate
R ²	Coefficient of Determination
SD	Standard Deviation
SEß	Standard Error of the Slope
SLU	Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences
UHOH	University of Hohenheim
USB	Universal Serial Bus

Introduction

The number of natural forests in developing countries continues to decline, with Africa having the largest annual net loss of forests since 1990, and the past decade (2010-2020), being particularly critical, with a loss of 3.9 million hectares (FAO 2020). Agricultural intensification (AI) has led to the simplification of farmed landscapes resulting in the loss of landscape diversity (Frey-Ehrenbold et al. 2013; Emmerson et al. 2016; Tal 2018). In essence, agricultural intensification aims at increasing the productivity and rentability of farmland through high-yield monocultures, which most often involves the use of agricultural inputs. In the Ivory Coast (IC), more than 80% of original forests have been destroyed through traditional swidden agriculture, illegal logging, and large-scale land conversion for cash crop cultivation (Amani et al. 2021; Doua-Bi et al. 2021), such as palm oil, cocoa, and coconut. This alteration in the natural landscape in such a short period of time, has led to the loss of biodiversity and destruction of natural ecosystems (Gray & Lewis 2014; Emmerson et al. 2016; Kouadio & Singh 2021). Biodiversity is not only important as such, but it is directly linked to the function, maintenance, and resilience of ecosystems (Hooper et al. 2005; Pennekamp et al. 2018; Martini et al. 2024). It is thus important to investigate further the role of biodiversity in the form of natural habitat patches within agricultural landscapes.

The importance of including natural habitats (NH) within agricultural landscapes and the role ecosystem services play in maintaining various habitats is increasingly being recognised and promoted in the agricultural world (Howe et al. 2009; Smukler et al. 2012; Gray & Lewis 2014; Tscharntke et al. 2021). Habitat patches, comprising remnant natural forested areas, land left fallow, and large trees, not only provide a refuge for biodiversity but may also confer several ecosystem services (Emmerson et al. 2016). For example, natural habitat patches may support higher levels of pest predators and pollinators, thereby increasing biological control and pollination in the adjacent crops (Howe et al. 2009). However, it is important to note that ecosystem disservices may also occur (Decocq et al. 2016). For instance, crops next to natural habitat may have reduced yields due to resource competition and habitats may increase pest numbers. Agricultural landscapes nurture a range of ecological networks from arable and nonarable habitats (Gabriel et al. 2013; Emmerson et al. 2016). However, agricultural habitats and natural habitats within agricultural landscapes vary in terms of species composition and ecosystem functions, where the later usually harbours more beneficial ecosystem services, due to its higher biodiversity (Kremen & Miles 2012).

Acoustic monitoring has emerged as a practical and low-cost method for assessing biodiversity (Lapp et al. 2023). Autonomous recording units (ARUs) are used to collect and analyse soundscape data offering insights into species diversity and acoustic complexity in a cost-effective and practical manner (Alcocer et al. 2022; Martini et al. 2024). Predation is one of the central factors that can assist in determining the abundance of insect communities and predatory activity for birds (Gray & Lewis 2014; Sam et al. 2015). Through the use of ARUs coupled with artificial prey methods, predation rates across a study site can thus be assessed (Schwab et al. 2021).

Context

The following study took place on a \sim 900-hectare coconut plantation in the Ivory Coast. Coconut plants, in most growing regions of the world, are attacked by numerous pests all year round, including both vertebrates and invertebrates (Rajan et al. 2009; Kumara et al. 2015). In such a large-scale monoculture, the integration of natural habitat and the benefits that it might yield across the plantation are of particular interest. Moreover, the plantation wishes to obtain the Bio Suisse certification which includes a mandatory 7% natural habitat as a standard. Given that the certification is organic, there is a need to assess the quality of the natural habitat patches on the plantation and the pest control benefits that they may bring about.

Birds and bats are often indicator species for habitat quality and ecosystem services (Russo et al. 2021; Fill et al. 2022). Additionally in tropical climates, the use of insects as bioindicators is frequently used as they are often associated with increased plant diversity (Lövei & Ferrante 2017; Sajjad 2020; Lima et al. 2021; Chowdhury et al. 2023). When areas surrounding crop lands contain more natural habitat, predation pressure can increase or decrease following natural habitat fragmentation (Langellotto & Denno 2004; Maas et al. 2013; Haan et al. 2020; Schwab et al. 2021). The natural habitat in this study consists of well-developed tree stands, in part remnant natural forested areas on slopes too steep for farming, and in other parts land left fallow to restore patches of biodiverse land on the property.

Research gaps

Many studies have highlighted the benefits of integrating patches of natural habitat within agricultural landscapes (Howe et al. 2009; Kremen & Miles 2012; Gray & Lewis 2014; Decocq et al. 2016; Emmerson et al. 2016; Tscharntke et al. 2021), as well as establishing links between biodiversity and ecosystem functions (Hooper et al. 2005; Pennekamp et al. 2018; Haan et al. 2020; Martini et al. 2024). However, there is a scarcity of research focusing on the specific integration of natural habitats in large-scale monocultures, such as coconut plantations in tropical regions.

Furthermore, the Bio Suisse certification is more commonly applied in Europe, so transferring the standard to West Africa and other parts of the tropics is a novel challenge, especially given that the natural habitat in this context is well developed tree stands rather than natural grasslands and flower patches. Thus, more detailed studies are needed to emphasise and quantify the contributions of birds, bats, and predatory insects to ecosystem services in farmed lands in the Global South.

Addressing these research gaps will enhance our understanding of how to effectively integrate natural habitats within agricultural landscapes to promote biodiversity and ecosystem services, especially in the context of developing countries and large-scale monocultures.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

Aims

This research aims to assess and formulate a deeper understanding of the following questions:

- a. How does the presence of natural habitat patches within a large-scale coconut plantation in Ivory Coast influence pest control?
- b. Do the larger natural habitat patches display more predatory activity observed in the surrounding coconut fields?
- c. Does the distance away from the natural habitat patches influence the amount of predation observed?
- d. How do soundscape indices relate to pest control?

Hypotheses

From the aforementioned research questions the following hypotheses were generated:

- a.1 The acoustic indices will correlate with the predation rate of the dummy caterpillars. The acoustic complexity index (ACI) and the acoustic entropy (H) will increase with the level of activity of birds, bats, and predatory insects.
- b.1 The rate of attenuation of acoustic signals is dependent on the natural habitat patch size. Larger patches provide more resources to support greater populations of natural enemies of pests, as indicated or represented by the presence of predation events.

- c.1 Acoustic complexity and predation activity observed will decrease with increasing distance from the habitat patch. Birds, bats, and insect predators may exhibit higher levels of activity closer to the habitat patch, as they benefit from resources and shelter provided by the patch.
- d.1 Acoustic complexity will increase with higher recorded predation rates.

Materials and Methods

Study site

The study was conducted in April 2024 on a nine-hundred-hectare coconut (*Cocos nucifera*) plantation two hours Northeast of Abidjan in the Ivory Coast, West Africa (5°24'16.38" N, 3°35'35.40" W) (Figure 1). There are two distinct seasons each year: dry from June until October and wet from November until May (*World Bank Climate Change Knowledge Portal* 2021), with mean annual temperatures and rainfall of 24-28°C and 1299.33 mm (1991-2020). To successfully gather the necessary acoustic and temporal field data, it was preferable to go during the dry season for ease of movement and acoustic monitoring, as torrential downfall experienced in the tropics during the wet season would hinder the recordings.



Figure 1. A satellite image of the plantation dating from April 2024, matching the sampling period of the study. In red the theoretical border of the plantation. Within the red border, the vertical and horizontal straight lines are tracks, separating the coconut plots, and the darker, more irregular shapes correspond to the natural habitat patches. In the bottom left-hand corner of the image, a

natural forest. All other elements that can be seen are mixed agricultural lands. (Image source: Planet Labs Inc., 2024).

Planting design and Management of the plantation

The coconut trees on the plantation are planted 8 meters by 12 meters apart and are aged from zero to five years old.

The management methods, which are usually relatively modest in coconut plantations (Plucknett 2019), involve the addition of calcium carbonate to the acidic, sandy, soil, and the use of nitrogen-fixing tropical Kudzu (*Pueraria phaseoloides*) throughout the planation as a cover crop.

QField

In preparation for this systematic survey, a mapping exercise was undertaken using QField by members of the plantation research team to determine the size of natural habitat patches. QField is a mobile GIS application, for geospatial data collection and analysis, allowing the operator to view and manage a GIS project created with QGIS on a smartphone in the field (Montagnetti & Guarino 2021). This enabled the clear delineation of the plantation's geographical limits as well as mapping the patches of natural habitat patches, which are in part remnant natural forested areas, too steep for farming, and in other parts land left fallow to regain biodiverse land on the property, as well as large remnant trees, which are also important components of habitat (Zwartz et al., 2019) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. An example of a natural habitat patch (NHP) found in the plantation, where an area of remnant forest can be seen in the background, and rows of planted coconut trees in the foreground. (Photo by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024).

The app was also used as a GPS to facilitate the orientation in the large study area and the creation of points at each sampling site. Post-fieldwork, the collected data from QField was exported to QGIS, for integration with the other relevant GIS layers and datasets.

AudioMoths

Large-scale monitoring of such species may bring about several limitations, such as the costs and impracticality of the data collection (Hill et al. 2019). In recent years, there have been significant improvements in the technologies available for biodiversity monitoring in the field (Lapp et al. 2023). With acoustic monitoring becoming an increasingly widespread technique for surveying populations of sound-producing species (Laiolo 2010; Marques et al. 2013; Sugai et al. 2019; Rhinehart et al. 2020; Lapp et al. 2023). Collected sound files can be analysed to estimate the number of species heard in the audio files, and derive indices of acoustic complexity, which in turn may give indications of species diversity (Alcocer et al. 2022; Martini et al. 2024).

Open Acoustic Devices released the first version of the AudioMoth in 2017 (Hill et al. 2019), and it has quickly become one of the most widely used autonomous recording units (ARUs) (Lapp et al. 2023). AudioMoths are a low-cost, open-source acoustic logger, for monitoring and analysing environmental sounds (Hill et al. 2019; AudioMoth | Open Acoustic Devices 2023) (Figure 3). A total of thirty AudioMoths version 1.2 were used in this study to collect acoustic data, in the form of audio recordings of bird, bat, and insect vocalisations across the plantation. Acoustic surveying of 14 NHPs and 168 sampling points within the ~900-hectare coconut plantation was achieved with and through the following materials and methods.



Figure 3. The AudioMoth device, in an IPX7 Waterproof case open (left) and closed (right). (Image source: AudioMoth | Open Acoustic Devices 2023).

Materials used to build an audio recording station include: AudioMoth devices, MicroSD cards (for data storage), AudioMoth IPX7 Waterproof Cases, AA lithium batteries, bamboo sticks, a hand-digging trowel, cable ties, the AudioMoth Configuration App version 1.10.2, a USB to Micro B cable, a MicroSD card reader to USB, a Computer with R and R-Studio installed, and a GPS device, for precise location logging, in this case the QField app was used.

The AudioMoths were attached using the Velcro band present on the weatherproof casings, on trees within and on the edge points of the habitat patches. In the transects, no trees, apart from the coconut trees, were present. Thus, bamboo sticks of approximately three metres in height were used to securely attach the AudioMoths using cable ties (Figure 4).



Figure 4. AudioMoths in the field. From left to right; in the middle of a natural HP fixed on a tree, at the border of a natural HP fixed on a tree, and at a sample point on a transect fixed on a bamboo stick. (Photos by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024).

The recording schedule was set 30 minutes before both, dawn (05:45-08:45 UTC) and dusk (17:45-20:45 UTC) to coincide with peak biophony (Rhinehart et al. 2020). *AudioMoth-config* was used to configure the desired settings. These included the sample rate, which determines the maximum sound frequency able to be recorded (Rhinehart et al. 2020). It was set to 250kHz to capture both audible (birds and insects) and ultrasonic (bats) sounds. The recording duration of the sound files was set to 1 minute every 2 minutes, to facilitate the processing of the data, and to avoid having large quantities of unusable sound files due to unforeseen external events (rain/wind). Lastly, the gain, which depends on the environment in which

the AudioMoths are deployed (*AudioMoth* | *Open Acoustic Devices* 2023), was set to 'medium' (Appendix 1).

Within each natural HP, one recorder was set up in the middle of the patch (-50m), and two edge points (0m), selected at random each time, from which two transects perpendicular to each other were conducted out from the patch with increasing distance, each point having one recorder (Figure 5). Thus 12 recorders for each habitat patch, recorded for two nights and two mornings before being moved to new sites. One transect had sampling points of 25m, 50m, 100m, 200m, and 400m from the edge of the habitat patch, whilst the other transect going perpendicularly to the previous one, had distances of 75m, 150m, 250m, and 300m from the other edge point of the habitat patch. For ease of analysis the distance of the point in the NHP was approximated to "-50m" and the two edge points to "0m".



Figure 5. Graphical depiction of the sample design for the placement of the AudioMoths and dummy caterpillars in the subsequent transects from the natural habitat patches. (Illustration by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024).

ARUs can pick up a significant amount of background noise, both natural and anthropogenic. Additionally, their detection range is somewhat limited as a single

AudioMoth can monitor an area of $\sim 0.8 \text{km}^2$ (Hill et al. 2018), leading to distant sound sources being missed, potentially creating an incomplete data set. The orientation of the AudioMoths was designed to maximise the efficiency and effectiveness of the acoustic data collection, thus they were placed facing away from the natural HP at the edge points and facing towards the natural HP at all the transect points.

Each single site was sampled only once, unless rain occurred during one of the four 3-hours recording periods, in which case, the site was repeated. After each 48-hour data collection period, the AudioMoths were retrieved. The microSD cards were removed and connected to a computer using the microSD to USB connector to transfer the audio files to an external hard drive. A backup of all the recordings was also maintained. The microSD cards were then erased, returned to the devices, and the AudioMoths reconfigured to be placed at a new site.

Soundscape analysis

The soundscape analysis was performed using a specific R package entitled 'soundecology', to calculate acoustic indices from the recorded sound files gathered in the field using the AudioMoths (Villanueva-Rivera et al. 2011; Bradfer-Lawrence et al. 2024). The mean and standard deviation of the acoustic indices were used in this study, as shown to uncover hidden patterns of variability and to be the most useful variables for differentiating habitats (Fuller et al. 2015; Pieretti et al. 2015; Bradfer-Lawrence et al. 2024).

The following indices were calculated:

Acoustic Complexity Index (ACI) produces a direct quantification of the complexity of the soundscape by evaluating the variability in sound intensity over time and frequency bands (Pieretti et al. 2011; Martini et al. 2024). Different habitats generate unique soundscapes due to the varying presence and activities of species (Frommolt & Tauchert 2014). High ACI values typically indicate a complex soundscape, which can be correlated to habitat diversity, and are often indicative of rich biological activity which can serve to infer on biodiversity (Alcocer et al. 2022).

Temporal Entropy (H) assesses the temporal variability of the soundscape, indicating the predictability or randomness of sound events over time, which enables the understanding of acoustic activity patterns, such as diel or seasonal variations (Sueur et al. 2008; Alcocer et al. 2022). High H values (> 0.5 - 1) typically indicate areas with high species diversity which often show complex temporal patterns of acoustic activity (Sueur et al. 2008; Martini et al. 2024). Predictable patterns might indicate regular activities such as feeding or mating calls,

while randomness might indicate sporadic or diverse species interactions (Sueur et al. 2008).

The Bioacoustic Index (BI) quantifies the intensity of biological sounds in a soundscape, typically in a frequency range where most biological sounds occur, and is used to monitor biological activity changes over time (Boelman et al. 2007; Alcocer et al. 2022). High BI values (> 2) suggest that many different species are present and contribute to the diversity of the sound frequencies (Boelman et al. 2007). However, Alcocer et al. (2022), reports that BI is weakly connected to biodiversity.

The Acoustic Evenness Index (AEI) measures the evenness of sound energy distribution across frequency bands. Typically, values close to zero indicate uneven distribution and values close to one, even distribution which can be related to habitat quality and species diversity (Villanueva-Rivera et al. 2011; Martini et al. 2024). Alcocer et al. (2022) reports an "almost perfect" correlation between AEI and species richness.

The Acoustic Diversity Index (ADI) quantifies the diversity of sound sources in the environment by examining the distribution of acoustic energy across different frequency bands (Villanueva-Rivera et al. 2011; Alcocer et al. 2022; Martini et al. 2024). It is used to assess the presence and diversity of species, with values above 0.7 indicating rich biodiversity (Villanueva-Rivera et al. 2011; Alcocer et al. 2022; Martini et al. 2022; Martini et al. 2024). Alcocer et al. (2022), reports ADI values being specifically associated with bird species richness.

Acoustic indices are valuable tools for non-invasively monitoring biodiversity. By analysing acoustic data, one can infer habitat quality, species presence, and ecosystem health (Alcocer et al. 2022). However, some limitations are to be considered when using acoustic indices to infer on biodiversity richness and ecosystem health.

Anthropogenic noise can interfere with the recordings, theoretically masking biophonic sounds and affecting the resulting indices. However, the Normalised Difference Soundscape Index (NDSI), which focuses on distinguishing the balance between biological and anthropogenic sounds in an environment can be used (Kasten et al. 2012; Alcocer et al. 2022). In this study, NDSI was not calculated as it was not relevant with the area being so remote. Moreover, the recording schedule was set outside of working hours for the plantation staff, thereby reducing the possibility of anthropogenic noise.

Dense vegetation, complex terrain, and natural environmental sounds (wind/rain) can attenuate the sounds recorded by the ARUs, hindering the detection of certain species. Moreover, not all species are vocal and/or not during the specific recording time periods, leading to an underrepresentation in which rare species may not be accounted for. A long-term monitoring is thus required to accurately capture acoustic biodiversity. Additionally, acoustic monitoring should be used in conjunction with other biodiversity assessment methods to provide a more comprehensive understanding of the ecosystem under study (Alcocer et al. 2022). Several of the above-mentioned limitations can be circumvented through the use of artificial prey (Howe et al. 2009).

The indices were calculated with the default settings. Each site had 360 1-minute files, and each file was analysed individually to get a score for each index. This was then used to calculate the mean and standard deviation (SD) of all the indices.

Dummy caterpillars

Using artificial prey is a simple method which allows the observer to monitor the rate of attack or disappearance, thereby obtaining quantitative data on predation pressure (Howe et al. 2009).



Figure 6. Left, a live caterpillar (Hippotion esson), after which the artificial caterpillars in this study were modelled. Right, a dummy caterpillar upon placement. (Photos by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024).

The technique relies on the malleability and non-hardening quality of the modelling clay which can then be shaped into regular 3.5cm long and 0.5cm wide cylindrical shape of a caterpillar, using a T-handle reamer and insertion tool. As far as it is known, this clay is suitable for children and thus poses no health/welfare issues. Furthermore, the green colour seems to be perceived as more palatable by predators (Howe et al. 2009). These artificial caterpillars can be perforated and attached to any substrate (plant leaf, stem, or soil) using wire. Care should be taken to minimise

the amount of handling as this may give unwanted chemical signals to predators, as well as spoiling of samples through accidental markings (Howe et al. 2009).



Figure 7. Tools and materials used to make dummy caterpillars following the standards by Howe et al. (2009) green plasticine modelling clay, a T-handle reamer and insertion tool, a spool of thin, flexible, green wire, and a pair of wire cutters to fix them onto the desired surface. (Photos by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024).

Three dummy caterpillars were used per audio sampling site. The distribution of the DCs at each sampling site consisted of three locations, one on the floor, one on a nearby coconut tree/plant, and one on the bamboo used to support the AudioMoth. They were categorised for ease of use as; "floor", "coconut", and "bamboo".



Figure 8. A selection of three DCs in the field, photographed, labelled, and recorded showing signs of predation, circled in red. From left to right, a floor DC with multiple rodent bite marks, a DC on a bamboo stick with large ant mandibular bite marks, a DC on a nearby coconut tree with ant bite marks. (Photos by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024).

A total of 504 artificial caterpillars, placed at 168 sampling sites, were used in the field data collection period. After being exposed for two nights and two mornings, roughly 48 hours, the DCs were inspected in situ, recorded, and documented using a phone camera and labelling on each picture. They were then removed and discarded. It is often best not to remove the dummy caterpillar from the surface on which it was fixed, but rather to take a detailed and focused photograph of the predation marks. The plasticity of the clay allows one to observe marks caused by predator's mandibles, teeth, beak, or ovipositor. Signs of predation were later examined and recorded by comparing each of the pictures taken, to a standard "biteguide" (Howe et al. 2009; Low et al. 2014; Sam et al. 2015; Molleman et al. 2016) (Figure 9).



Figure 9. An example of a predation event on two different DCs. Circled in red, clear triangularshaped beak marks, typical of bird predation, can be observed on the DCs. (Photos by F.M.M. Jamme, 2024).

The record of predation/parasitism on the artificial caterpillars, was then reorganised to streamline its input into RStudio for statistical analysis, to determine levels and types of predations. The following categories were used for the dependent variables, Predation (P), and Predation Rate (PRate).

Data analysis

The predation rates [%] were calculated as the ratio of the number of predated dummy caterpillars to the total number of deployed DCs. If the DC displayed bite marks, it was counted as predated. If two distinct bite marks on a DC were identified, two separate predation events were recorded. DCs that were no longer at the sample site were assumed to have been preyed upon.

The Pearson correlation coefficients between predation (P) and predation rate (PRate) and all the explanatory variables, distance from the natural habitat patch (D), natural habitat patch size (NHPsize), acoustic complexity index (ACIMean and ACIsd), temporal entropy (HMean and Hsd), bioacoustic index (BIMean and BIsd), acoustic evenness index (AEIMean and AEIsd), acoustic diversity index (ADIMean and ADIsd), were calculated in RStudio using the 'pearson' method. This method measures the strength and direction of the linear relationship between two variables, where '1' indicates a perfect positive linear correlation, '-1' a perfect negative correlation, and '0' no linear correlation.

Furthermore, a linear regression was fitted to model the relationship between the dependent variables (P and PRate) and the explanatory variables. The coefficient of determination (R^2) was extracted to assess the goodness of fit of the models. This statistical measure explains the proportion of the variance in P and PRate that is predictable from the explanatory variables it is modelled against.

To test the potential relationship between the acoustic indices and predation and predation rate, generalised linear models (GLMs) were used, using the 'ggplot2' package in RStudio. GLMs are a flexible extension of ordinary linear regression that allows for the dependent variables (P and PRate) to have a distribution other than a normal distribution. The key advantages of using 'ggplot2' include its capacity to generate intricate, multi-layered graphics with extensive customization options and its user-friendly syntax.

The 'binomial' family was used for GLMs of P and PRate in RStudio. This family is used for modelling binary or proportional data. However, an important issue of this family is **overdispersion**. This occurs when the observed variability in the data is greater than what the model expects under the assumed distribution. Thus, when fitting the GLMs of PRate with the binomial family, overdispersion was checked. This was done by comparing the residual deviance to the degrees of freedom. If the residual deviance significantly exceeded the degrees of freedom, overdispersion was likely present. When overdispersion was detected, the 'quasibinomial' family was used. This adjustment provides more accurate estimates of the standard errors and improves the reliability of the statistical inferences obtained.

One model was run for each explanatory variable, thus 24 models in total. In each model, P and PRate were the response variables, and each acoustic index as well as D and NHPsize, were the explanatory variables.

For PRate as a response variable, a two-column matrix with the number of attacked DCs (eaten) and the number of undamaged DCs (remaining) per sampling site was generated, using the function 'cbind' in RStudio.

A correlation matrix of all the explanatory variables was created to **detect for multicollinearity, inform variable selection and identify redundant variables.**

The data was analysed using R-Studio version 4.4.1 for all analyses (R Core Team 2024), and $\alpha < 0.05$ was used as a significance threshold for all hypothesis tests.

Literature review

A review of published scientific literature was conducted to investigate on the current research involving acoustic surveying and dummy caterpillar methods, and ecosystem services within agricultural landscapes. Furthermore, other studies using soundscape analyses were explored to better compare with the findings in this study.

The following keywords were researched on Google Scholar (Google 2024), ScienceDirect (Elsevier B.V. 2024), and ResearchGate (ResearchGate GmbH 2024), '("ecosystem services" AND "agricultural landscapes")', '("ecosystem services" AND "habitat patches" AND "tropical agriculture")', '("natural habitat" AND "acoustic recordings")', '("dummy caterpillars")', among others.

Critiques and limitations

Study site

While the choice of the dry season was made to ease movement and recording, having only one month of data limited the accuracy of the representation of the yearly activity of the species present on the plantation. Thus, a more representative data collection across various seasons in the year may yield more significant results.

AudioMoths

The 30 AudioMoths, while numerous, may still provide incomplete coverage of the ~900-hectare plantation. Should this study be replicated, a greater number of

AudioMoths and more manpower should be considered to enhance the findings by increasing the amount of audio data collected per transect and throughout the study site.

Dummy caterpillars

The interpretation of predation rates using dummy caterpillars can be challenging. Marks on the caterpillars may not always be clear or distinguishable, leading to potential misidentification of predation events. Additionally, the 48-hour exposure period may not be sufficient to capture the full range of predation pressures.

Data analysis

The use of generalised linear models (GLMs) might oversimplify the complex interactions within the ecosystem. More sophisticated models could be used to provide a deeper insight.

Results

Dummy caterpillars

Overall, of the 504 DCs placed at the 168 sampling sites, across the 14 different NHP sites on the plantation, a total of 149 individual predation events were counted. A resulting total mean predation rate of 29.3% was obtained.

All NHP sites sampled displayed some level of predation. Mean predation rates within NHP sites ranged from 19.25% to 49.67%.

Predation frequencies observed on the DCs were identified as conducted by insects (44.44%), birds (43.79%), and rodents (11.76%).

Table 1. Coefficient of determination (R^2), probability value (p), slope (β), and standard error of the slope (SE β) of the different interactions of the explanatory variables (D, NHP, ACIMean, ACIsd, HMean, Hsd, BIMean, BIsd, AEIMean, AEIsd, ADIMean, ADIsd) and the Predation (P) and Predation Rate (PRate). Significant results are indicated in bold. Marginally significant results are indicated by an asterisk (*).

		R ²	р	ß	SEß
D	Р	0.0036	0.438	-0.0009	0.0012
	PRate	0.0017	0.599	-0.0004	0.0008
NHP	Р	0.0048	0.374	-1.078e-05	8.087e-06
	PRate	0.0214*	0.058*	-7.226e-06*	5.667e-06*
ACIMean	Р	0.0251	0.032	0.0147	0.0070
	PRate	0.0073	0.248	0.0047	0.0041
ACIsd	Р	0.0335	0.013	0.0079	0.0033
	PRate	0.0181*	0.068*	0.0031*	0.0017*
HMean	Р	0.0001	0.911	-0.3879	3.4476
	PRate	0.0078	0.530	1.4740	2.3420
Hsd	Р	0.0021	0.233	10.3741	8.7009
	PRate	0.0003	0.821	1.3278	5.8622
BIMean	Р	0.0011	0.648	0.7814	1.7019
	PRate	0.0002	0.842	-0.2317	1.1584
BIsd	Р	0.0049	0.344	3.3254	3.5250
	PRate	0.0004	0.780	0.6748	2.4099
AEIMean	Р	0.0012	0.638	1.0491	2.2152
	PRate	0.0007	0.721	-0.5380	1.5056
AEIsd	Р	0.0062	0.289	3.9697	3.7440
	PRate	0.0037	0.423	2.1224	2.5878
ADIMean	Р	0.0006	0.733	-0.9526	2.7730
	PRate	0.0006	0.742	0.6231	1.8874
ADIsd	Р	0.0043	0.375	2.4444	2.7456
	PRate	0.0028	0.474	1.3290	1.8550



Figure 10. Left, predation events (1 = predation, 0 = no predation) versus distance (m) away from the natural habitat patches correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site) versus distance (m) away from the natural habitat patches correlation scatter plot.

Predation

A non-significant tendency between the frequency of predation (P) and distance (D) was found, that declined with increasing distance from the NHPs (Figure 10). Distance explained a limited amount of the variation in predation ($R^2=0.0036$) and was non-significant (p=0.438) (Table 1).

Predation rate

A non-significant tendency between the predation rate (PRate) and distance (D) was found, that declined with increasing distance from the NHPs (Figure 10). Distance explained a limited amount of the variation in predation rate (R^2 =0.0017) and was non-significant (p=0.599) (Table 1).



Figure 11. Left, predation events (1 = predation, 0 = no predation) versus natural habitat patch size (m^2) correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site) versus natural habitat patch size (m^2) correlation scatter plot.

Predation

A non-significant tendency between the frequency of predation (P) and the natural habitat patch size (NHPsize) was found, that declined with increasing NHPsize (Figure 11).

Natural habitat patch size explained a limited amount of the variation in predation ($R^2=0.0048$) and was non-significant (p=0.374) (Table 1).

Predation rate

A marginally significant tendency between the predation rate (PRate) and the natural habitat patch size (NHPsize) was found, that declined with increasing NHPsize (Figure 11).

Natural habitat patch size explained a limited amount of the variation in predation rate ($R^2=0.0214$) and was marginally significant (p=0.058) (Table 1).

Acoustic complexity index



Figure 12. Left, predation events versus ACIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation events versus ACIs correlation scatter plot. (1 = predation, 0 = no predation).

Acoustic Complexity Index Mean

A significant tendency between the frequency of predation (P) and the Acoustic Complexity Index Mean (ACIMean) was found (Figure 12).

ACIMean explained a limited amount of the variation in predation ($R^2=0.0251$) and was significant (p=0.032) (Table 1).

Acoustic Complexity Index Standard Deviation

A significant tendency between the frequency of predation (P) and the Acoustic Complexity Index Standard Deviation (ACIsd) was found (Figure 12).

ACIsd explained a limited amount of the variation in predation ($R^2=0.0335$) and was significant (p=0.013) (Table 1).



Figure 13. Left, predation rate versus ACIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate versus ACIsd correlation scatter plot. (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site).

Acoustic Complexity Index Mean

A non-significant tendency between the predation rate (PRate) and the Acoustic Complexity Index Mean (ACIMean), was found (Figure 13).

ACIMean explained a limited amount of the variation in predation rate $(R^2=0.0073)$ and was non-significant (p=0.248) (Table 1).

Acoustic Complexity Index Standard Deviation

A marginally significant tendency between the predation rate (PRate) and the Acoustic Complexity Index Standard Deviation (ACIsd) was found (Figure 13). ACIsd explained a limited amount of the variation in predation rate ($R^2=0.0181$) and was marginally significant (p=0.0685) (Table 1).

Temporal entropy



Figure 14. Left, predation events versus HMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation events versus Hsd correlation scatter plot. (1 = predation, 0 = no predation).

Temporal Entropy Mean

No tendency between the frequency of predation (P) and the Temporal Entropy Mean (HMean) was found (Figure 14).

HMean explained a limited amount of the variation in predation ($R^2=0.0001$) and was non-significant (p=0.911) (Table 1).

Temporal Entropy Standard Deviation

A non-significant tendency between the frequency of predation (P) and the Temporal Entropy Standard Deviation (Hsd) was found (Figure 14).

Hsd explained a limited amount of the variation in predation ($R^2=0.0078$) and was non-significant (p=0.233) (Table 1).

Predation rate



Figure 15. Left, predation rate versus HMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate versus Hsd correlation scatter plot. (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site).

Temporal Entropy Mean

A non-significant tendency between the predation rate (PRate) and the Temporal Entropy Mean (HMean) was found (Figure 15).

HMean explained a limited amount of the variation in predation rate ($R^2=0.0022$) and was non-significant (p=0.530) (Table 1).

Temporal Entropy Standard Deviation

No tendency between the predation rate (PRate) and the Temporal Entropy Standard Deviation (Hsd) was found (Figure 15).

Hsd explained a limited amount of the variation in predation rate ($R^2=0.0003$) and was non-significant (p=0.821) (Table 1).

Bioacoustic index



Figure 16. Left, predation events versus BIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation events versus BIsd correlation scatter plot. (1 = predation, 0 = no predation).

Bioacoustic Index Mean

A non-significant tendency between the frequency of predation (P) and the Bioacoustic Index Mean (BIMean) was found (Figure 16).

BIMean explained a limited amount of the variation in predation ($R^2=0.0011$) and was non-significant (p=0.648) (Table 1).

Bioacoustic Index Standard Deviation

A non-significant tendency between the frequency of predation (P) and Bioacoustic Index Standard Deviation (BIsd) was found (Figure 16).

BIsd explained a limited amount of the variation in predation ($R^2=0.0049$) and was non-significant (p=0.347) (Table 1).



Predation rate

Figure 17. Left, predation rate versus BIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate versus BIsd correlation scatter plot. (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site).

Bioacoustic Index Mean

A non-significant tendency between the predation rate (PRate) and the Bioacoustic Index Mean (BIMean) was found (Figure 17).

BIMean explained a limited amount of the variation in predation rate $(R^2=0.0002)$ and was non-significant (p=0.842) (Table 1).

Bioacoustic Index Standard Deviation

A non-significant tendency between the predation rate (PRate) and the Bioacoustic Index Standard Deviation (BIsd) was found (Figure 17).

BIsd explained a limited amount of the variation in predation rate ($R^2=0.0004$) and was non-significant (p=0.780) (Table 1).

Acoustic evenness index



Predation

Figure 18. Left, predation events versus AEIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation events versus AEIsd correlation scatter plot. (1 = predation, 0 = no predation).

Acoustic Evenness Index Mean

A non-significant tendency between the frequency of predation (P) and the Acoustic Evenness Index Mean (AEIMean) was found (Figure 18).

AEIMean explained a limited amount of the variation in predation ($R^2=0.0012$) and was non-significant (p=0.638) (Table 1).

Acoustic Evenness Index Standard Deviation

A non-significant between the frequency of predation (P) and the Acoustic Evenness Index Standard Deviation (AEIsd) was found (Figure 18).

AEIsd explained a limited amount of the variation in predation ($R^2=0.0062$) and was non-significant (p=0.289) (Table 1).



Figure 19. Left, predation rate versus AEIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate versus AEIsd correlation scatter plot. (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site).

Acoustic Evenness Index Mean

A non-significant tendency between the predation rate (PRate) and the Acoustic Evenness Index Mean (AEIMean) was found (Figure 19).

AEIMean explained a limited amount of the variation in predation rate $(R^2=0.0007)$ and was non-significant (p=0.721) (Table 1).

Acoustic Evenness Index Standard Deviation

A non-significant tendency between the predation rate (PRate) and the Acoustic Evenness Index Standard Deviation (AEIsd) was found (Figure 19).

AEIsd explained a limited amount of the variation in predation rate ($R^2=0.0037$) and was non-significant (p=0.412) (Table 1).

Acoustic diversity index



Figure 20. Left, predation events versus ADIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation events versus ADIsd correlation scatter plot. (1 = predation, 0 = no predation).

Acoustic Diversity Index Mean

A non-significant tendency between the frequency of predation (P) and the Acoustic Diversity Index Mean (ADIMean) was found (Figure 20).

ADIMean explained a limited amount of the variation in predation ($R^2=0.0006$) and was non-significant (p=0.733) (Table 1).

Acoustic Diversity Index Standard Deviation

A non-significant tendency between the frequency of predation (P) and the Acoustic Diversity Index Standard Deviation (ADIsd) was found (Figure 20). ADIsd explained a limited amount of the variation in predation ($R^2=0.0043$) and was non-significant (p=0.375) (Table 1).

Predation rate



Figure 21. Left, predation rate versus ADIMean correlation scatter plot. Right predation rate versus ADIsd correlation scatter plot. (0, 0.33, 0.66, 1 = 0, 1, 2, 3 DCs 'attacked' per sampling site).

Acoustic Diversity Index Mean

A non-significant tendency between the predation rate (PRate) and the Acoustic Diversity Index Mean (ADIMean) was found (Figure 21).

ADIMean explained a limited amount of the variation in predation rate $(R^2=0.0006)$ and was non-significant (p=0.742) (Table 1).

Acoustic Diversity Index Standard Deviation

A non-significant tendency between the predation rate (PRate) and the Acoustic Diversity Index Standard Deviation (ADIsd) was found (Figure 21).

ADIsd explained a limited amount of the variation in predation rate ($R^2=0.0028$) and was non-significant (p=0.474) (Table 1).

Explanatory variables



Figure 22. The correlation matrix of all the explanatory variables; D, NHP, ACIMean, ACIsd, HMean, Hsd, AEIMean, AEIsd, BIMean, BIsd, ADIMean, and ADIsd.

A correlation matrix of all the explanatory variables was created to **detect for multicollinearity**, **inform variable selection**, **and identify redundant variables**.

Correlations were found between variables H, AEI, and BI. Many of the correlations found between the explanatory variables were very weak or negligible (Figure 22).

Notable correlations were found between AEIsd and ADIsd (0.9157), and AEIMean and ADIMean (-0.9614).

Furthermore, strong correlations were found between ACIMean and ACIsd (0.8748), BIMean and AEIMean (0.7511), HMean and ADIMean (0.7216), BIMean and BIsd (0.7160), HMean and AEIMean (-0.8430), HMean and BIMean (-0.8601), AEIsd and ADIMean (-0.7270), ADIMean and ADIsd (-0.7749).

Discussion

Interpretations and implications

This study aimed to understand the influence of natural habitat patches (NHPs) within a large-scale coconut plantation, on pest control, through acoustic and artificial prey monitoring.

The total mean predation rate recorded on the plantation (29.3%) was relatively high. While the values from other studies are not directly comparable to these findings, as experiments vary in many aspects, such as land use and exposure time (Lövei & Ferrante 2017), it is worth noting that the following studies reported mean predation rates of 25.8% (Lövei & Ferrante 2017), 32.4% (Schwab et al. 2021), 10.4% (Moreno & Ferro 2012), 14% (Martini et al. 2024), and 20.9% (Leles et al. 2017). Paralleled to the values reported from other experiments conducted in similar climatic conditions the predation rate results presented here seems to be akin, with a tendency towards the upper limit, even though the exposure time of the DCs in this study was lower (Moreno & Ferro 2012; Leles et al. 2017; Lövei & Ferrante 2017; Schwab et al. 2021).

Though mostly non-significant, the tendencies observed showed some interesting existing relationships between predation (P) and the distance away from the natural habitat patches (D), decreasing as D increased (Figure 10). With the hypothesis of NHPs harbouring more biodiversity due to their species variation and undisturbed habitats, it was expected that the predation rate would decrease, the further away from the NHPs in the plantation, however, these effects were only partially detected, and predation events did not significantly increase closer to the natural habitat patches.

The lack of statistically significant results might be attributed to the plantation's environment. The organic management methods foster a rich and diverse undergrowth, which in turn enhances the overall biodiversity observed across the plantation. The main crop cover in the plantation is tropical Kudzu (*Pueraria phaseoloides*), a vigorous winding and climbing perennial legume, commonly used in this type of tree-crop plantations in humid regions (Nair et al. 2021). The omnipresence of this cover crop may have contributed to the results obtained in this study which partially agree with previous published literature, where most of acoustic indices are reported to be good reflections of biological activity and showing strong relationships with predation rates (Alcocer et al. 2022; Martini et al. 2024).

The correlation between PRate and NHPsize was found to be marginally significant, indicating a tendency for both P and PRate to decrease with increasing natural HP size (Figure 11). These findings go against the hypothesis that the rate of attenuation of acoustic signals is dependent on the natural habitat patch size (b.1) and lead to infer that the NHPsize does not necessarily play an important role in the amount of predatory activity observed in the plantation. This again may be due to the nature of the study site, having a relatively overgrown understory where the coconuts are planted.

Both the ACI mean and standard deviation showed statistically significant positive correlations with predation (Figure 12). It is inferred from these results that high ACI- and P- values could indicate a higher level of biodiversity. This further contributes to the results of Sueur et al. (2008) and Alcocer et al. (2022), confirming ACI as one of the reference indices as indicator of biodiversity.

PRate and ACIsd showed marginally significant results (Figure 13). However, no other significant tendencies between PRate and ACIMean, HMean, and Hsd were found (Figure 13 and Figure 15), which might have indicated predictable activity patterns (Sueur et al. 2008). This lack of significant result can potentially be attributed to the lack of long-term data which could have included seasonal variations (Sueur et al. 2008; Alcocer et al. 2022).

No significant relationships were noted between both BIMean and BIsd with P and PRate. However, it is interesting to note the slight positive tendency that may indicate that predation events increased with an increasing intensity of sounds recorded. The value might display more statistically significant results if the AudioMoths were left in the field over long-term time period, as prolonged exposure would potentially monitor more biological activity changes over time (Boelman et al. 2007; Alcocer et al. 2022).

AEI displays no significant results. Yet, a slight positive tendency can be remarked between P and AEIsd which could indicate the start of a trend implying that increased predation events correlate with species richness (Alcocer et al. 2022). The lack of a significant result may be due once again to the nature of the study area. Furthermore, these results could be the consequence of the AudioMoths' range not being large enough for this context, where the vegetation is so dense.

ADI results were non-significant, still a slight positive tendency between P and ADIsd can be seen. These results could be explained by the variation in predatory species present in the sampled plantation (i.e.: insects (44.44%), birds (43.79%),

and rodents (11.76%)). ADI may not accurately represent the level of predation but could infer on the level of bird species richness (Alcocer et al. 2022).

Many of the correlations found between the explanatory variables were very weak or negligible, an indication that their results were complementary to each other in the context of this study.

Notable correlations were found between AEIsd and ADIsd (0.9157), and AEIMean and ADIMean (-0.9614). This may indicate that a soundscape analysis may be more aimed towards bird sound detection and that AEI and ADI may be redundant to each other. Additionally, in the study, many predation events were caused by various insects (44.44%), therefore, these two indices may not be an accurate representation of all the predatory species available on the plantation as they mostly relate to bird species richness (Alcocer et al. 2022).

It is useful to note that ACI and H are known to show inconsistent relationships with biodiversity among studies, inferring that their performance may be area specific (Mammides et al. 2017; Eldridge et al. 2018; Martini et al. 2024). Furthermore, BI, AEI, and ADI, have all been reported as weakly correlated to biodiversity (Alcocer et al. 2022; Martini et al. 2024).

In this context, the soundscape indices obtained are not good indicators of potential predation and pest control. The dense vegetation found in the understory of the study sites was relatively ubiquitous and may have influenced the results by potentially promoting insect activity, irrespective of the presence of the NHPs. Previous studies revealed that Kudzu coverage had a significant negative impact on avian diversity and species richness (Hudson 2013; Profetto & Howard 2021). Therefore, given that the NHPs may be relatively unimportant in this study, in a more intensively managed agricultural system with minimal to no ground cover, a different outcome may be seen.

Overall, this analysis highlights the complexity of ecological interactions in agricultural landscapes. The findings suggest that while natural habitat patches contribute to biodiversity and potentially offer pest control benefits, the relationship is not straightforward and is likely influenced by a multitude of other factors not captured in this study.

Limitations

This study presents several limitations that need to be considered.

Firstly, some of the acoustic and predation data were not collected concurrently, resulting in a temporal mismatch. This occurred only on a few occasions, where

technical issues with the AudioMoths were encountered. Therefore, acoustic data collection at these sites was repeated, but new DCs were not deployed due to lack of time.

Secondly, DC damage is caused by many different species; birds (43.79%), rodents (11.76%), and insects (44.44%), where most insect orders do not produce sounds (Greenfield 2016; Martini et al. 2024), implying that part of the recorded predation data was produced by species that were not necessarily captured by the AudioMoths.

Thirdly, the quantity of DCs deployed at each sampling site (3) was relatively small. Additionally, the data collected per sampling site consisted of 12 hours of audio recordings and 48 hours of DC exposure, which may have led to missing certain rare species. Therefore, had time and manual labour not been a limiting factor in this study, more DCs at each subsite could have been placed. Additionally, repeated sampling at the same points could have been made to capture variability over time. Moreover, extra data-collection points along each of the NHP transects could have been sampled, to increase the surface area of the planation covered in this study.

Furthermore, extreme weather, for example torrential rain and very warm temperatures (35 - 40°C) experienced in tropical climates such as the one in Ivory Coast, can cause technical as well as structural problems to the fake prey due to dislodging and/or melting of the caterpillars (Howe et al. 2009). These intense meteorological conditions were experienced on only a few days during the data collection period and did not show to significantly alter the quality of the DCs. However, it must be mentioned that these phenomena could have resulted in non-representative predation rates on the days following heavy rain.

As previously mentioned, although this study contained a good sample size, additional time per site would have maybe ensured more concrete results. It was not expected to provide definitive findings, but rather to further demonstrate the potential of NHPs and the benefits they might provide within a large-scale coconut monoculture.

Future research

Future research should aim to address these limitations by expanding the temporal scope of data collection and increasing the spatial coverage with more recording units and artificial prey. This could be done by including longer transects with more sampling points where possible, and/or collecting data from the same sample sites over an extended period of time.

Furthermore, this study examined the effects of natural habitat patches in a coconut (*Cocos nucifera*) monoculture. While this is one of the most important crops grown in this region, it is far from being the only one. Therefore, interesting follow up studies could replicate this analysis in an oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis*) plantation, and/or in non-tree crops farmland, and/or in a plantation with limited understory development.

Lastly, a comparative study across different types of monocultures in these geographical regions could help generalise the findings and provide more robust results about the potential ecosystem benefits that the integration of natural habitats patches in agricultural systems may bring.

Conclusions

In conclusion, this study aimed to gain a better understanding of the potential role of natural habitat patches in providing niches for the enhancement of biodiversity thereby providing ecosystem services within a large-scale coconut plantation in Ivory Coast.

The effects of natural habitat patches within tropical monocultures cannot be significantly demonstrated in this study, however trends in correlation can be seen highlighting the general importance of NHPs with regards to biodiversity density and ecosystem services through predation. Natural habitat patches may bring about certain advantages to a large-scale plantation, such as pollinators and potential pest predators, however no significant results were found in this study that proved that those ecosystem services emerged solely due to the presence of the NHPs.

Even though statistically not significant, the tendencies that emerged in this study were notable, considering that the plantation is relatively bio-friendly-managed. Thus, the results obtained are mostly due to the lack of time/workforce and thus, repetitions.

For the plantation managers, these findings imply that while maintaining natural habitat patches is beneficial for biodiversity, relying solely on these patches for effective pest control may be insufficient. Thus, understanding the complex interplay of factors influencing predation can help in designing a more resilient agricultural system and sustainable practices.

Overall, I believe that this is a field of research that has the potential to develop and increase our understanding of the effects ecosystem services that natural habitat patches may provide in simplified farmed lands.

References

- Alcocer, I., Lima, H., Sugai, L.S.M. & Llusia, D. (2022). Acoustic indices as proxies for biodiversity: a meta-analysis. *Biological Reviews*, 97 (6), 2209–2236. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12890
- Amani, B.H.K., N'Guessan, A.E., Derroire, G., N'dja, J.K., Elogne, A.G.M., Traoré, K., Zo-Bi, I.C. & Hérault, B. (2021). The potential of secondary forests to restore biodiversity of the lost forests in semi-deciduous West Africa. *Biological Conservation*, 259, 109154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2021.109154
- AudioMoth | Open Acoustic Devices (2023). openacoustic devices. https://www.openacoustic devices.info/audiomoth [2024-06-21]
- Boelman, N.T., Asner, G.P., Hart, P.J. & Martin, R.E. (2007). Multi-trophic invasion resistance in hawaii: bioacoustics, field surveys, and airborne remote sensing. *Ecological Applications*, 17 (8), 2137–2144. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-0004.1
- Bradfer-Lawrence, T., Duthie, B., Abrahams, C., Adam, M., Barnett, R.J., Beeston, A., Darby, J., Dell, B., Gardner, N., Gasc, A., Heath, B., Howells, N., Janson, M., Kyoseva, M., Luypaert, T., Metcalf, O.C., Nousek-McGregor, A.E., Poznansky, F., Ross, S.R.P. -J., Sethi, S., Smyth, S., Waddell, E. & Froidevaux, J.S.P. (2024). The Acoustic Index User's Guide: A practical manual for defining, generating and understanding current and future acoustic indices. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 2041–210X.14357. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.14357
- Chowdhury, S., Dubey, V.K., Choudhury, S., Das, A., Jeengar, D., Sujatha, B., Kumar, A., Kumar, N., Semwal, A. & Kumar, V. (2023). Insects as bioindicator: A hidden gem for environmental monitoring. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 11, 1146052. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2023.1146052
- Decocq, G., Andrieu, E., Brunet, J., Chabrerie, O., De Frenne, P., De Smedt, P.,
 Deconchat, M., Diekmann, M., Ehrmann, S., Giffard, B., Mifsud, E.G., Hansen,
 K., Hermy, M., Kolb, A., Lenoir, J., Liira, J., Moldan, F., Prokofieva, I.,
 Rosenqvist, L., Varela, E., Valdés, A., Verheyen, K. & Wulf, M. (2016).
 Ecosystem Services from Small Forest Patches in Agricultural Landscapes. *Current Forestry Reports*, 2 (1), 30–44. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-016-0028-x
- Doua-Bi, G.Y.A., Zo-Bi, I.C., Amani, B.H.K., Elogne, A.G.M., N'dja, J.K., N'Guessan, A.E. & Hérault, B. (2021). Taking advantage of natural regeneration potential in secondary forests to recover commercial tree resources in Côte d'Ivoire. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 493, 119240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2021.119240

- Eldridge, A., Guyot, P., Moscoso, P., Johnston, A., Eyre-Walker, Y. & Peck, M. (2018). Sounding out ecoacoustic metrics: Avian species richness is predicted by acoustic indices in temperate but not tropical habitats. *Ecological Indicators*, 95, 939–952. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.06.012
- Elsevier B.V. (2024). *ScienceDirect.com* | *Science, health and medical journals, full text articles and books.* https://www.sciencedirect.com/ [2024-06-26]
- Emmerson, M., Morales, M., Oñate, J., Batary, P., Berendse, F., Liira, J., Aavik, T.,
 Guerrero, I., Bommarco, R., Eggers, S., Pärt, T., Tscharntke, T., Weisser, W.,
 Clement, L. & Bengtsson, J. (2016). How Agricultural Intensification Affects
 Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services. *Advances in Ecological Research*, 55, 43– 97. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.aecr.2016.08.005
- FAO (2020). Global Forest Resource Assessment. www.fao.org. https://www.fao.org/interactive/forest-resources-assessment/2020/en/ [2024-06-21]
- Fill, C.T., Allen, C.R., Twidwell, D. & Benson, J.F. (2022). Spatial distribution of bat activity in agricultural fields: implications for ecosystem service estimates. *Ecology and Society*, 27 (2), art11. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-13170-270211
- Frey-Ehrenbold, A., Bontadina, F., Arlettaz, R. & Obrist, M.K. (2013). Landscape connectivity, habitat structure and activity of bat guilds in farmland-dominated matrices. Pocock, M. (ed.) (Pocock, M., ed.) *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 50 (1), 252–261. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12034
- Frommolt, K.-H. & Tauchert, K.-H. (2014). Applying bioacoustic methods for long-term monitoring of a nocturnal wetland bird. *Ecological Informatics*, 21, 4–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2013.12.009
- Fuller, S., Axel, A.C., Tucker, D. & Gage, S.H. (2015). Connecting soundscape to landscape: Which acoustic index best describes landscape configuration? *Ecological Indicators*, 58, 207–215. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.05.057
- Gabriel, D., Sait, S.M., Kunin, W.E. & Benton, T.G. (2013). Food production vs. biodiversity: comparing organic and conventional agriculture. Steffan-Dewenter, I. (ed.) (Steffan-Dewenter, I., ed.) *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 50 (2), 355–364. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12035
- Google (2024). *Google Scholar*. https://scholar.google.com/ [2024-06-26]
- Gray, C.L. & Lewis, O.T. (2014). Do riparian forest fragments provide ecosystem services or disservices in surrounding oil palm plantations? *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 15 (8), 693–700. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2014.09.009
- Greenfield, M.D. (2016). Evolution of Acoustic Communication in Insects. In: Pollack,
 G.S., Mason, A.C., Popper, A.N., & Fay, R.R. (eds) *Insect Hearing*. Springer
 International Publishing. 17–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-28890-1
- Haan, N.L., Zhang, Y. & Landis, D.A. (2020). Predicting Landscape Configuration Effects on Agricultural Pest Suppression. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 35 (2), 175–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2019.10.003
- Hill, A.P., Prince, P., Piña Covarrubias, E., Doncaster, C.P., Snaddon, J.L. & Rogers, A. (2018). AudioMoth: Evaluation of a smart open acoustic device for monitoring

biodiversity and the environment. Isaac, N. (ed.) (Isaac, N., ed.) *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 9 (5), 1199–1211. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12955

- Hill, A.P., Prince, P., Snaddon, J.L., Doncaster, C.P. & Rogers, A. (2019). AudioMoth: A low-cost acoustic device for monitoring biodiversity and the environment. *HardwareX*, 6, e00073. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ohx.2019.e00073
- Hooper, D.U., Chapin, F.S., Ewel, J.J., Hector, A., Inchausti, P., Lavorel, S., Lawton, J.H., Lodge, D.M., Loreau, M., Naeem, S., Schmid, B., Setälä, H., Symstad, A.J., Vandermeer, J. & Wardle, D.A. (2005). Effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: a consensus of current knowledge. *Ecological Monographs*, 75 (1), 3–35. https://doi.org/10.1890/04-0922
- Howe, A., Lövei, G.L. & Nachman, G. (2009). Dummy caterpillars as a simple method to assess predation rates on invertebrates in a tropical agroecosystem. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 131 (3), 325–329. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1570-7458.2009.00860.x
- Hudson, A.B. (2013). Seasonal correlations between Pueraria montana var. lobata and avian species diversity and relative abundance in Hamilton County, Tennessee. The University of Tennessee at Chattanooga.
- Kasten, E.P., Gage, S.H., Fox, J. & Joo, W. (2012). The remote environmental assessment laboratory's acoustic library: An archive for studying soundscape ecology. *Ecological Informatics*, 12, 50–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2012.08.001
- Kouadio, K.I. & Singh, R. (2021). Deforestation and threat to biodiversity in developing countries: case of ivory coast. 14 (07)
- Kremen, C. & Miles, A. (2012). Ecosystem Services in Biologically Diversified versus Conventional Farming Systems: Benefits, Externalities, and Trade-Offs. *Ecology* and Society, 17 (4), art40. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-05035-170440
- Kumara, A.D.N.T., Chandrashekharaiah, M., Kandakoor, S.B. & Chakravarthy, A.K.
 (2015). Status and Management of Three Major Insect Pests of Coconut in the Tropics and Subtropics. In: Chakravarthy, A.K. (ed.) *New Horizons in Insect Science: Towards Sustainable Pest Management*. Springer India. 359–381. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-2089-3_32
- Laiolo, P. (2010). The emerging significance of bioacoustics in animal species conservation. *Biological Conservation*, 143 (7), 1635–1645. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.03.025
- Langellotto, G.A. & Denno, R.F. (2004). Responses of invertebrate natural enemies to complex-structured habitats: a meta-analytical synthesis. *Oecologia*, 139 (1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-004-1497-3
- Lapp, S., Stahlman, N. & Kitzes, J. (2023). A Quantitative Evaluation of the Performance of the Low-Cost AudioMoth Acoustic Recording Unit. *Sensors*, 23 (11), 5254. https://doi.org/10.3390/s23115254
- Leles, B., Xiao, X., Pasion, B.O., Nakamura, A. & Tomlinson, K.W. (2017). Does plant diversity increase top–down control of herbivorous insects in tropical forest? *Oikos*, 126 (8), 1142–1149. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.03562

- Lima, J.S., Leite, G.L.D., Guanabens, P.F.S., Soares, M.A., Silva, J.L., Mota, M.V.S., Lemes, P.G. & Zanuncio, J.C. (2021). Insects and spiders on *Acacia mangium* (Fabaceae) saplings as bioindicators for the recovery of tropical degraded areas. *Brazilian Journal of Biology*, 84, e252088. https://doi.org/10.1590/1519-6984.252088
- Lövei, G.L. & Ferrante, M. (2017). A review of the sentinel prey method as a way of quantifying invertebrate predation under field conditions. *Insect Science*, 24 (4), 528–542. https://doi.org/10.1111/1744-7917.12405
- Low, P.A., Sam, K., McArthur, C., Posa, M.R.C. & Hochuli, D.F. (2014). Determining predator identity from attack marks left in model caterpillars: guidelines for best practice. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 152 (2), 120–126. https://doi.org/10.1111/eea.12207
- Maas, B., Clough, Y. & Tscharntke, T. (2013). Bats and birds increase crop yield in tropical agroforestry landscapes. *Ecology Letters*, 16 (12), 1480–1487. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12194
- Mammides, C., Goodale, E., Dayananda, S.K., Kang, L. & Chen, J. (2017). Do acoustic indices correlate with bird diversity? Insights from two biodiverse regions in Yunnan Province, south China. *Ecological Indicators*, 82, 470–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.07.017
- Marques, T.A., Thomas, L., Martin, S.W., Mellinger, D.K., Ward, J.A., Moretti, D.J., Harris, D. & Tyack, P.L. (2013). Estimating animal population density using passive acoustics. *Biological Reviews*, 88 (2), 287–309. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12001
- Martini, F., Chen, Y.-F., Mammides, C., Goodale, E. & Goodale, U.M. (2024). Exploring potential relationships between acoustic indices and ecosystem functions: a test on insect herbivory. *Oecologia*, 204 (4), 875–883. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-024-05536-9
- Molleman, F., Remmel, T. & Sam, K. (2016). Phenology of Predation on Insects in a Tropical Forest: Temporal Variation in Attack Rate on Dummy Caterpillars. *Biotropica*, 48 (2), 229–236. https://doi.org/10.1111/btp.12268
- Montagnetti, R. & Guarino, G. (2021). From Qgis to Qfield and Vice Versa: How the New Android Application Is Facilitating the Work of the Archaeologist in the Field. *Proceedings of ArcheoFOSS 2019*, October 23 2021. 6. MDPI. https://doi.org/10.3390/environsciproc2021010006
- Moreno, C. & Ferro, V.G. (2012). Intensidade de ataque a lagartas artificiais em diferentes formações vegetais do cerrado. http://repositorio.bc.ufg.br/handle/ri/12224 [2024-07-18]
- Nair, P.K.R., Kumar, B.M. & Nair, V.D. (2021). An Introduction to Agroforestry: Four Decades of Scientific Developments. Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-75358-0
- Pennekamp, F., Pontarp, M., Tabi, A., Altermatt, F., Alther, R., Choffat, Y., Fronhofer, E.A., Ganesanandamoorthy, P., Garnier, A., Griffiths, J.I., Greene, S., Horgan, K., Massie, T.M., Mächler, E., Palamara, G.M., Seymour, M. & Petchey, O.L.

(2018). Biodiversity increases and decreases ecosystem stability. *Nature*, 563 (7729), 109–112. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0627-8

- Pieretti, N., Duarte, M.H.L., Sousa-Lima, R.S., Rodrigues, M., Young, R.J. & Farina, A. (2015). Determining Temporal Sampling Schemes for Passive Acoustic Studies in Different Tropical Ecosystems. *Tropical Conservation Science*, 8 (1), 215– 234. https://doi.org/10.1177/194008291500800117
- Pieretti, N., Farina, A. & Morri, D. (2011). A new methodology to infer the singing activity of an avian community: The Acoustic Complexity Index (ACI). *Ecological Indicators*, 11 (3), 868–873. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2010.11.005

Plucknett, D.L. (2019). Managing Pastures and Cattle Under Coconuts. CRC Press.

- Profetto, G. & Howard, J.J. (2021). Plant community responses to kudzu (Pueraria montana) invasion in a southern upland forest1. *The Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society*, 149 (1). https://doi.org/10.3159/TORREY-D-21-00019.1
- R Core Team (2024). *R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing* (Version 2024.04.2+764 (2024.04.2+764)) [RStudio]. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://www.R-project.org/
- Rajan, P., Mohan, C., Nair, C.P.R. & Rajkumar, A.J. (2009). Integrated Pest Management in Coconut. In: *Integrated Pest Management in Coconut*. (Technical Bulletin; 55).
- ResearchGate GmbH (2024). *Home Feed. ResearchGate.* https://www.researchgate.net/ [2024-06-26]
- Rhinehart, T.A., Chronister, L.M., Devlin, T. & Kitzes, J. (2020). Acoustic localization of terrestrial wildlife: Current practices and future opportunities. *Ecology and Evolution*, 10 (13), 6794–6818. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6216
- Russo, D., Salinas-Ramos, V.B., Cistrone, L., Smeraldo, S., Bosso, L. & Ancillotto, L. (2021). Do We Need to Use Bats as Bioindicators? *Biology*, 10 (8), 693. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology10080693
- Sajjad, H. (2020). Terrestrial Insects as Bioindicators of Environmental Pollution: A Review. University of Wah Journal of Science and Technology (UWJST), 4, 21– 25
- Sam, K., Remmel, T. & Molleman, F. (2015). Material affects attack rates on dummy caterpillars in tropical forest where arthropod predators dominate: an experiment using clay and dough dummies with green colourants on various plant species. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 157 (3), 317–324. https://doi.org/10.1111/eea.12367
- Schwab, D., Wurz, A., Grass, I., Rakotomalala, A.A.N.A., Osen, K., Soazafy, M.R., Martin, D.A. & Tscharntke, T. (2021). Decreasing predation rates and shifting predator compositions along a land-use gradient in Madagascar's vanilla landscapes. Solar, R. (ed.) (Solar, R., ed.) *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 58 (2), 360–371. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13766
- Smukler, S.M., Philpott, S.M., Jackson, L.E., Klein, A.-M., DeClerck, F., Winowiecki, L.
 & Palm, C.A. (2012). Ecosystem Services in Agricultural Landscapes. In: Ingram, J.C., DeClerck, F., & Rumbaitis del Rio, C. (eds) *Integrating Ecology*

and Poverty Reduction: Ecological Dimensions. Springer. 17–51. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-0633-5_3

- Sueur, J., Pavoine, S., Hamerlynck, O. & Duvail, S. (2008). Rapid Acoustic Survey for Biodiversity Appraisal. Reby, D. (ed.) (Reby, D., ed.) *PLoS ONE*, 3 (12), e4065. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0004065
- Sugai, L.S.M., Silva, T.S.F., Ribeiro, J.W. & Llusia, D. (2019). Terrestrial Passive Acoustic Monitoring: Review and Perspectives. *BioScience*, 69 (1), 15–25. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biy147
- Tal, A. (2018). Making Conventional Agriculture Environmentally Friendly: Moving beyond the Glorification of Organic Agriculture and the Demonization of Conventional Agriculture. *Sustainability*, 10 (4), 1078. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10041078
- Tscharntke, T., Grass, I., Wanger, T.C., Westphal, C. & Batáry, P. (2021). Beyond organic farming – harnessing biodiversity-friendly landscapes. *Trends in Ecology* & *Evolution*, 36 (10), 919–930. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2021.06.010
- Villanueva-Rivera, L.J., Pijanowski, B.C., Doucette, J. & Pekin, B. (2011). A primer of acoustic analysis for landscape ecologists. *Landscape Ecology*, 26 (9), 1233– 1246. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-011-9636-9
- World Bank Climate Change Knowledge Portal (2021). https://climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org/ [2024-06-18]

Popular science summary

Agricultural intensification, particularly in developing countries, has led to significant loss of natural forests and a decrease in biodiversity. In the Ivory Coast, the conversion of natural landscapes into agricultural land for cash crop cultivation has been a major contributor to these issues. However, amidst these extensive monocultures, patches of natural habitat may provide certain benefits such as pollination and a natural pest control method. This study explores how these natural areas can contribute to managing pests in a large-scale coconut plantation.

The analysis reveals that these natural habitat patches may play a crucial role in controlling pests in agricultural landscapes. Using devices that capture the sounds emitted by birds, bats and predatory insects present in the plantation, as well as placing artificial caterpillars in different areas, revealed that these natural patches attract a variety of predators.

Even though the results obtained were mostly statistically not significant, the trends observed support the hypothesis that the natural habitat patches within the plantation harbour more biodiversity. This means that by maintaining and integrating areas of natural habitat within large-scale agricultural landscapes, farmers could reduce the need for chemical pest control, benefiting both the environment and agricultural productivity.

In summary, this research highlights the role of natural habitats in agricultural landscapes and provides valuable insights for farmers and policymakers aiming to promote reasonable farming practices. By embracing biodiversity, large-scale plantations can improve their ecological health and resilience, ensuring long-term productivity and environmental sustainability.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to everyone who has supported me throughout the course of this research. This thesis would have not been possible without the collective contributions of all these individuals and institutions.

I am grateful to my homie and to my family for their continuous support and encouragement during my studies.

I would like to extend my earnest thanks to my supervisor, Michael Jones, and cosupervisor, Marc Cotter, for their instrumental guidance and constructive feedback. Their expertise and insights have been instrumental in shaping this thesis.

I would like to thank my thesis examiner, Jan Plue, for his time, meticulous review and constructive feedback.

Thank you to Aaron Willmott without which I would have not been able to join this project, and with whom I travelled to Ivory Coast to collect the necessary data. His constant helpful suggestions and encouragement throughout this thesis, was a real plus.

Additionally, I would like to acknowledge and extend my appreciation to Ralf Erdmann and all his staff at the Plantation Modernes de Côte d'Ivoire for their assistance and support in the field, with a special mention to Fofana Abou.

Finally, I would like to thank both the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences and Hohenheim University for giving me the opportunity to further my studies.

Appendix 1

Screenshots of the exact configuration settings used in this study, for the configuration of the AudioMoths.



Publishing and archiving

Approved students' theses at SLU are published electronically. As a student, you have the copyright to your own work and need to approve the electronic publishing. If you check the box for **YES**, the full text (pdf file) and metadata will be visible and searchable online. If you check the box for **NO**, only the metadata and the abstract will be visible and searchable online. Nevertheless, when the document is uploaded it will still be archived as a digital file. If you are more than one author, the checked box will be applied to all authors. You will find a link to SLU's publishing agreement here:

• <u>https://libanswers.slu.se/en/faq/228318</u>.

 \boxtimes YES, I/we hereby give permission to publish the present thesis in accordance with the SLU agreement regarding the transfer of the right to publish a work.

 \Box NO, I/we do not give permission to publish the present work. The work will still be archived and its metadata and abstract will be visible and searchable.